IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID A WHITE

ANTON D. MEYERS,

JAN 8 1996

Appellant,

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT
By Crief Power Clerk

VS.

SUPREME COURT CASE NO.: 85,617

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Submitted by:

ED LEINSTER Attorney At Law 1302 East Robinson Street Orlando, Florida 32801 (407) 422-3937

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Appellant, ANTON D. MEYERS, who was the Defendant below, will hereinafter be referred to as "the Defendant."

The State of Florida, which was the Plaintiff below, will hereinafter be referred to as "the State."

The Record on Appeal, excluding transcripts, will be referred to as "TR," followed by the page of the Record on Appeal.

The transcripts of the trial shall be referred to as "TT," followed by a number that corresponds to the page of the trial transcript.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND OF THE CASE

The Appellant, who was the Defendant below, was charged with the crime of First Degree Murder. The Defendant submitted a Motion to Suppress certain evidence, which Motion the trial court denied. The Defendant proceeded to trial, and was convicted as charged. This appeal timely ensued.

The first witness to testify for the state was Laurna Brown. She had been a close personal friend of the victim. TT-703. She identified a picture of the victim when she was 14 years old TT-701, when they were in the eighth grade together. TT-703. She had known the appellant during that time only as someone in the neighborhood along with another individual named Gary Demay. TT-704. The last time she saw the victim was May 24, 1987.

State's Exhibit #2, a photograph of the neighborhood in those days was offered and accepted into evidence. TT-709. This depicted where the witness had met the victim the evening of May 24th, while the appellant was present. She met the victim at the convenience store where the victim's grandparents brought her. TT-710. The victim had asked the witness to spend the night with her because she was bored. TT-711. The witness stated that the victim made a phone call to her grandparents house from Autumn Pemberton's house. TT-712. The Witness stated that the victim had wanted to get beer since she could not find any pot and the defendant offered to buy some. TT-712. The three of them agreed to go to the appellant's residence to drink beer. TT-713. She stated she drank approximately two beers over a two hour period and the victim drank two or three. TT-714. Autumn Pemberton had also joined them

at the appellant's residence. TT-715. They then went to Gary Demay's residence where the appellant entered for five or ten minutes. TT-716. The three of them went back to Lorna's residence, where the appellant stayed outside and talked to them through the windows. The reason for going there was that the witness's parents would be leaving to go to work around midnight. TT-717. After Lorna's mother went to work, the witness went outside to join the appellant and the victim, who had left the house briefly to be with him. TT-719. More beer was consumed. They went back to her residence near 2 o'clock in the morning because her father would be getting up. TT-719. Both the victim and the appellant came into Lorna's house and were in her bedroom when Lorna's father woke up and found them. TT-721. Lorna's father threw both the appellant and the victim out. Lorna then told him who Kathy was and she and her father went looking for her. TT-723. They did not find Kathy so they gave up the search and went to the beach the following day. TT-725. They arrived back home approximately 2 o'clock the next afternoon. Her sister Sharon had not gone to the beach that day. The witness related that the victim's grandparents had been calling that day and her sister had told them that the girls had been out for a walk. TT-726. Later that afternoon, the police were at Lorna's residence along with the grandparents of the victim. TT-728. The appellant was also present.

According to the witness, she had already asked the appellant what he had done the night before with the victim. He had responded that he had left her at the convenience store not far from there. TT-728. The witness had never seen the victim since then. She expressed no knowledge of the victim ever discussing boys, unhappiness

at home with her grandparents, any desire to run away, or feelings of discomfort with the grandparents. TT-732.

On cross examination, the witness was asked about her drinking prior to that particular evening. TT-734 - 736. She was also questioned about the beer that was on the counter in her bedroom that night. She stated that her lifestyle did not include alcohol or marijuana, and that she would not have hung out with people like that. TT-737. She stated that during the time of the victim's disappearance when she was 13, that she regarded Mr. Demay as a handsome older man, he being 23 at the time. TT-739. Even though her best estimate of calling the victim to come over was 9 to 10 o'clock at night, she felt that her knowledge of Kathy's freedom with her grandparents allowed her to be out at that time. TT-741.

It was established that the witness had very little parental supervision in the evenings because of her parent's work schedule. TT-742-743. When she called Kathy from the convenience store she stated that there was no mention of spending the night. She stated that Kathy's residence was approximately 15 minutes from her neighborhood. TT-744-746. She denied stating to Kathy that she was having family problems at the time. TT-746. She stated that Kathy had spent the night before at her friend's Alethia's home, not the grandparents. TT-747. In addition to Kathy having initiated talk about getting marijuana and beer on the last evening she was seen, Kathy was described as "a little tough" and "wouldn't let anybody run over her". TT-753. She was described as essentially vulgar in her communications. TT-754.

The witness described their going to Gary Desmay because he was older,

"hot," from New York, rode motorcycles, and that he was fascinating. TT-755. The tone of the witness's direct examination had been that the Defendant had forced himself on the young girls and come into her home almost without her knowledge.

On cross examination, it was clear that the appellant had been with the girls by their choice, had not been in a position to force himself into the home without the witnesses knowledge, and was, in fact, there while the witness was in jeopardy of being found by her parents to be out at an unusual time for a young woman that age. TT-755-758. It was clear that both the appellant and the victim voluntarily got into a closet when the witness's father woke up. TT-762. It was also clear that the appellant left the house immediately without waiting for the victim or suggesting that she follow him. TT-763. The witness had not made any of her professed fears referred to in her direct examination concerning Kathy's disappearance known to her father the night that they looked for her. TT-765. She had no reason to fear the appellant or suspect foul play. The witness stated that her sister was wrong by stating that they had been out walking and that, in fact, that she, the appellant, and the victim had made tentative plans to lie about going jogging when they would instead be going to a movie the next morning. TT-768. The witness stated that together with the news media and the posters, within a couple of days after Kathy's disappearance that rumors were "flying all over". TT-770. The witness was then questioned with a statement that she had made on November 5, 1991 where she acknowledged that between all the things she had been told and what she actually remembered was mixed together. TT-783. She also stated that at the time of her testimony that what she knew of the appellant was "what police

officers have told me". TT-784. She stated that her impression of him at that moment was based on facts that had been told to her by the police after the night when she wasn't there. TT-784. She admitted that the media versions may have influenced her thinking. TT-786. Having on direct Kathy was to her knowledge a non-drinker, she admitted having made a statement to a detective that Kathy wasn't a non-drinker. TT-789. Asked about the rumors that she had been hearing she said that most of what she remembered was helicopters flying over the neighborhood at that point in time. TT-796. She was confronted with a previous statement that indicated the rumors were that Kathy was dead, didn't run away. TT-796. Having said on direct that Kathy was happy at home the witness admitted on cross that her first statements had been she believed Kathy had run away. TT-798. Most of the rumors had stated that Kathy was dead but this witness had disavowed believing that at the time. TT-798. The witness was then read portions of her deposition where she admitted that Kathy felt her grandparents were stifling, too old, not very hip and she had just gotten back from New York and really wanted to go back. Also that she had met a guy there and she wanted to go back and travel. TT-803. It had been her opinion at the time that Kathy had simply run away. TT-804. The witness stated that one of the lead detectives had told her repeatedly that it was the appellant who was the murderer, among other things, and that her opinion changed after hearing all of these things as to whether or not Kathy had run away or had been harmed. TT-820-821.

The next witness for the state was Robert Brown. On the night of Kathy's disappearance he had woke up to find activity in his daughter Lorna's room. TT-824.

He located the appellant and Kathy in a closet. TT-825. He chased them out and then followed the route that Kathy would have taken home, then went to work. TT-826. He stated that the next day he, his wife, and Lorna went to the beach, that Sharon did not but knew the family was going to the beach. TT-831. He offered little explanation why Sharon would have told the grandparents that Kathy and Lorna were out for a walk the next day. TT-831. The next witness was Autumn Pemberton. TT-832. She had been twelve years old at the time of the events. She had been at the convenience store when Kathy was dropped off by her grandparents. 5-838. She stated that Lorna had gone back to her residence to get money to buy beer. TT-839. She went to the appellants home and drank beer with the rest of the group. TT-842. During that time Lorna mentioned that you could get a "buzz" from smoking tea bags. So they tried it. TT-843. She stated that about 2:30 in the morning that Kathy came back to her window with the appellant. TT-844. At that time Kathy asked whether she could spend the night and was told no. TT-845. She could see Gary Demay standing near he window on the road. TT-846. On cross examination the witness stated that Lorna had a crush on Gary Demay. TT-851. When the appellant, Kathy, and Gary Demay left her window they walked away together. TT-851. Based on Mr. Demay having also been the last person to be with the victim, the witness could offer no explanation why he was never contacted the next day. TT-852. She admitted that when Kathy had called her grandparents that she became angry because they hung up on her. TT-855. She also admitted that the plan was for Kathy and Lorna to wait for Lorna's parents to leave and then the next morning say they had gone jogging. TT-855. She remembered making a statement that

when she had been that age that there were other friends of Kathy's who were running away only to come back when the "pressure was off". TT-857. She had seen the appellant the following day of the disappearance and although he was wearing shorts and a shirt she remembered seeing no scratches or anything significant on him. TT-857. The next witness for the state was the grandmother of the victim. She and her husband had dropped Kathy off the night before at the convenience store where she had seen Lorna and someone on a bicycle. TT-879. Kathy had called later to ask to stay the night at Lorna's.

The next day the Hoopers would not have expected her to call until later in the afternoon because of her usual pattern. TT-881. The appellant was up at the Brown's residence when the Hoopers responded late that afternoon. They then drove him to the police department and along the way passed the convenience store where the appellant indicated he had dropped Kathy the night before. TT-885. Kathy had left and seen with a blue shirt that had a "Y" on it, jeans, and sneakers. TT-890. She was also wearing Reebok sneakers from a girlfriend, Amy Davis. TT-890. She stated that none of Kathy's clothing was missing nor any money withdrawn from her bank account. She described the vast media coverage of the disappearance including 152 billboards throughout the state, television, newspaper.

On cross examination the disparity of the Hoopers ages to Kathy was explored. TT-900. The Hoopers were the only parents she ever really new. Although her father had moved to Florida when she was young and actually lived in the same town, she had no close relationship with him. Her older brothers lived with him but she

did not. TT-902 & 903. Kathy's father kicked the two boys out a few months before Kathy disappeared after they came to live with the Hoopers. TT-907. Mrs. Hooper described the number of intrusions this created for Kathy and the fact that the oldest brother was smoking pot in the house. TT-908. Mrs. Hooper had confronted Kathy about the marijuana who became angry at the invasion of her privacy. TT-911. On the evening that she went to Lorna's home it was the Hooper's understanding that Lorna's father was drinking and they were having family problems. TT-912. Despite Kathy's age and the late hour the Hoopers took her to meet Lorna, nothing unusual since that was the second night in a row she would have spent out with a friend. TT-914. Rather than take her to the Brown's house they left her at the convenience store. TT-916. It was not until approximately 6:30 pm the next day that she reached the Brown residence and Lorna's sister said that Kathy and Lorna were out walking. TT-918. The Hoopers paid little, if any, attention to the discrepancies in what they had heard from the Browns or how the child happened to wind up with the appellant. TT-918921. Mrs. Hooper admitted that there was a tremendous amount of media coverage concerning the disappearance of Kathy Engels and that the appellants name was linked to her disappearance. TT-922. The Hoopers never questioned the appellant in any way about his association with Kathy. TT-927. She identified a tennis shoe which resembled the ones she had given Kathy. The witness had portrayed Kathy as having a good relationship with her family.

James Fisher testified for the State of Florida. James Fisher had been a long time acquaintance of the appellant. He was body bugged and sent to the Seminole

County Jail in an effort to get the appellant to admit different things about his involvement in the crime. Although the overall testimony of the State was that the appellant was more than willing to "spill the beans" to any number of perfect strangers, Mr. Fisher, his friend, came away empty handed. Mr. Fisher said that he had noted some swelling about the fingers and thumbs of the appellant. He mentioned nothing about scratches or other abrasions on the appellant's body and Stated that they had been working doing tree work during the last couple of days. He Stated that when he Stated that when he questioned him about his thumb, the appellant had made some reference about getting into a fight with a bum and thought that he might have killed him. Very little else was said about this particular event. When James Fisher went to the Seminole County Jail, it was clear that the appellant not only did not admit his involvement in this case but Stated that she would "turn up" somewhere.

The next witness for the state was Amy Davis. She had know Kathy Engels in May of 1986 and she knew Kathy quite well and had given her a pair of Princess Reebok sneakers. After she had stated that Kathy was very happy at home she admitted that Kathy was having problems since her brothers had moved in. TT-1017-1019. She felt that Kathy had changed a lot since her relationship with Laura Brown. TT-1022. She said that Kathy was becoming a "bad ass", a tough kid. TT-1024. She remembered Kathy coming out of a Burger King with some boys and announcing that she was "wasted". TT-1026.

The next witness to testify was Sandra Davis. TT-1034. She had known Kathy and the grandparents for a short period of time prior to moving. TT-1036. Her

daughter had given the Princess Reeboks to Kathy. TT-1037. She identified the shoe in evidence which had belonged to her and which was identical to the pair that were given to Kathy. TT-1039. The shoes given to Kathy had a hole in the right shoe at the little toe area. TT-1044.

Thomas Taggart next testified. Photographs of the appellant were going to be offered which had been the previous subject of a motion to suppress. The objection was again renewed and denied. TT-1048. Exhibit 5 through 17, pictures of the appellant taken at the jail with scratch marks on him were admitted. TT-1050.

The next witness to testify was John Engels. TT-1062. He stated that the relationship with his daughter was "fine", contrary to the testimony of all of the other witnesses. TT-1063. He stated that she had a good relationship with her brothers. TT-1064. In actuality, he had turned the child over to the grandparents when she was not two years old. TT-1064. As to the youngest son running away from the grandparents and not being heard from by the rest of the family, the witness stated that he was unaware of that on any of the family members and knew that Timothy was in New York. TT-1073.

The next witness was David Guilford. He was a detective with Lake Mary police. He identified the shoe as well as photographs as well as the area in which the investigation originally centered to find the body of Kathy Engels. He knew that that area had been searched using the assistance of infrared at the time of her disappearance.

The next witness was Kathy Engel's brother, John Engels, Jr. TT-1094.

He had lived with the grandparents since just prior to Kathy's disappearance. The night

of her disappearance she had called him looking for marijuana. TT-1097. He stated that his brother was twenty years old when he moved out from the grandparents. TT-1099. On cross examination he admitted that Tim was actually seventeen when he left the grandparents and that neither nor anyone else in the family or friends of Tim had heard from him since. TT-1100. Contrary to the father's testimony that they had wanted to go live with their sister, he admitted that the father had thrown them out. TT-1101. He had also asked his father if he knew where Timothy was and contrary to the father's testimony his father had told him that he did not. TT-1102.

The next witness was the medical examiner, Thomas Hegert. TT-1109. He examined the pictures of the scratch marks on the appellant's body. TT-1114. He was shown enlargements of the pictures already entered into evidence. The enlargements were entered into evidence as Exhibit 31 through 34. TT-1126. The primary wounds first shown to the medical examiner were not, in his opinion, from finger nail scratches, but would have been from a fixed object because of the equal spacing and linear pattern that was created. TT-1130-1131.

Dr. Hegert admitted that he had not even seen the photographs until September, 1993 and that the coloration of the photographs was inconsistent. TT-1132. Dr. Hegert had no contact with this particular case until 1993. He admitted that he would have preferred to have an actual body to work with and that the photographs were discolored that he had to use. He estimated the time of the bruising to the chest for the scarring as to within 3 to 5 days prior. He also Stated that in addition to disallowing the possibility that fingernails had caused the prominent wounds, that the

other scratch marks could possibly be fingernails.

The next witness was Phillip Valunan TT-1154-1166. His testimony was that he took the photographs of the scratches and "footprint", and enlarged them for Mr. Kingery, the next witness. He was not sure which of the several photographs Mr. Kingery had used for comparison purposes.

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