# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

APR 18 1996

ANTON D. MEYERS

Appellant,

CLERK, SUFFICIENT COURT

By

Check Decorpt Mark

v.

CASE NO. 85,617

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 444 SEABREEZE BLDG.5TH F1. DAYTONA BEACH, FL. 32118 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Autumn Pemberton was the next-to-last person to see Kathy Engles alive. The occasion of that meeting was Kathy's request to spend the night with Autumn, a request that is absolutely inconsistent with any plan or desire to run away from home. No one who knew Kathy has seen her since May 25, 1987, when she was seen in the early morning hours in the company of the defendant. At that time, Kathy was apparently in good health. The only evidence to the contrary was Betty Waine's testimony, and that testimony was throughly impeached. See p. 37, above. In fact, Mrs. Waine waited several days after the so-called "sighting" before she mentioned anything to anyone because she wanted to be 'sure". This was in the face of knowledge that Kathy was missing and that a massive search for her was under way. While Ms. Waine denied that statement during cross-examination, those very facts were proven up during the testimony of Susan Brandenberg. Ms. Waine knew that Kathy was missing and that the police were looking for her, but delayed reporting the 'sighting" until she talked with her daughter, who did not know Kathy at all, (TR 2419-20). As set out in the statement of the facts, there has been no sighting of Kathy Engles since May 25, 1987.

The day after Kathy was last seen, Meyers exhibited physical injuries as a result of a violent altercation, and bore a bruise-

like mark on his side consistent with the shoes Kathy was wearing at the time she disappeared.<sup>34</sup> Kathy left her purse in her grandparents' car when they dropped her off in Lorna Brown's neighborhood; Kathy always took her purse with her unless she only planned to be away for a short period of time. In fact, Kathy specifically told her grandmother that she did not need her purse because she would only be gone one hour. Kathy's money and personal items were in her purse. Moreover, none of Kathy's things were missing from her room, including a sum of cash that was left in her dresser. Further, Kathy Engles had a bank account containing over \$200; no one has ever attempted to withdraw any of that money.

When the circumstantial evidence that Kathy did not disappear voluntarily is coupled with the undisputed facts (shown by direct evidence) that she was last seen in Meyers' company and that Meyers was observed with marks on his body from a violent physical confrontation (and had a mark on him consistent with Kathy's shoes), there is more than enough evidence to establish that Kathy Engles is dead as a result of the criminal agency of another. Therefore,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup>Both experts testified that some of the scratches on Meyers' body were consistent with fingernail scratches. (TR 1134-35; 2222).

 $<sup>^{35}</sup>$ To the extent that Meyers alleges, on p. 31 of his brief, that Gary DeMay was also a suspect in this case, Meyers' own

there was no error in the introduction of Meyers confessions and admissions.

## B. The Evidence Supports Meyers Conviction

To the extent that the first issue contained in Meyers' brief challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction, that claim fails on the facts. In addition to the evidence set out above, Meyers directly admitted having killed Kathy Engles during the course of sexual battery to no less than five (5) people, and in addition made inculpatory statements to a priest. See, pp.24-32, above. That direct evidence, together with the other direct and circumstantial evidence, is overwhelming evidence of guilt.

In his brief, Meyers makes much of the fact that he confessed to fellow inmates and that, according to Meyers, those confessions are unreliable and unworthy of belief. There are three defects with that argument, each of which, standing alone, is sufficient to support a denial of relief. First, Meyers ignores, by omission, his inculpatory statements to Father Spencer. The testimony of a priest is hardly subject to impeachment based upon character. Father Spencer's testimony is consistent with the testimony of the five

statement to law enforcement was that he was alone with Kathy. (TR 1388-90). In any event, **DeMay** was eliminated as a suspect. (TR 1924-25; 1944-45). The identity component of the corpus delicti was never disputed.

inmate witnesses, and it makes no sense to suggest that the inmates fortuitously fabricated stories which are remarkably consistent with Father Spencer's testimony. No inmate-witness received any benefit from his testimony, and, in fact, no such witness was successfully impeached in any respect. Meyers' admissions, and all of the other evidence, are more than sufficient to support the conviction. See, e.g. Hardwick v. State, 521 So. 2d, 1071, 1075 (Fla. 1988)

The second reason that Meyers' challenge to the truthfulness of the inmate testimony fails is because the testimony of Zacke and Cole (and to a lesser degree, Davis) is consistent with Kathy's violent resistance that is shown by the physical evidence of Meyers' injuries. See, pp. 13-14; 16; 18-19, above.<sup>37</sup>

The third reason that Meyers' claim fails is because, when stripped of its pretensions, Meyers does nothing more than ask this Court to substitute its credibility determination for the jury's.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup>Meyers' admission to Father Spencer was not as detailed as some of the other admissions. However, that admission carries with it the recurrent statute of limitations/circumstantial evidence theme.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup>To the extent that Meyers argues that only the state's inmate witnesses were transported together, that claim is incorrect. The parties stipulated that Meyers' inmate witnesses were also transported together on at least one occasion. (TR 2385-86).

Florida law is settled that determinations about the credibility of witnesses are the province of the finder of fact, not of the appellate courts. Demps v. State, 462 So. 2d 1074, 1075 (Fla. 1984); Jent v. State, 408 So. 2d 1024, 1028 (Fla. 1981); see also, Land v. State, 59 So. 2d 370 (Fla. 1952). While Meyers believes (apparently) that the five inmates who testified about his confessions are "unreliable", the finder of fact resolved the credibility choice against Meyers. Meyers' dissatisfaction with that result does not establish a basis for the reversal of his conviction. Meyers' conviction should be affirmed in all respects.

To the extent that any other issue is contained within Claim I, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.190 is clear that a Motion to Dismiss pursuant to §(c) (4) must be denied when the facts are in dispute. See, e.g., Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.190; see also, State v. Gale, 575 so. 2d 760 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991). The facts in this case were certainly disputed, and the 3.190 motion was properly denied. See, R 415-422. To the extent that this issue discusses matters developed in connection with the motion to set bond or the motion to dismiss, that discussion is merely surplusage.<sup>36</sup> Those arguments

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup>Meyers' brief from the last paragraph on p.32 to the first full paragraph on p.35 is a reincarnation of his memorandum of law filed in support of the motion to dismiss. (R 343-47).

have no legal basis because they erroneously equate the concept of corpus delicti with that of sufficiency of the evidence. Meyers is wrong as a matter of law for the reasons set out at pp. 46-49, above. The fact-based argument found on pp. 36-39 of Meyers' brief is no more than his attempt to persuade this Court to decide questions of credibility. For the reasons set out at pp. 51-52, above, this Court should decline Meyers invitation to substitute its judgement for that of the fact-finder.<sup>39</sup> The jury heard all of the evidence, including much that is set out in the state's statement of the facts but is not included in Meyers' brief. The corpus delicti of homicide was established, and there is no basis for reversal. The conviction and sentence should be affirmed in all respects.

# II. THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS PHOTOGRAPHS TAKEN OF MEYERS WAS PROPERLY DENIED

On pp. 40-43 of his brief, and in Supplemental Point II on appeal, Meyers argues that photographs depicting injuries on his body shortly after Kathy Engles' murder should have been suppressed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup>The testimony about the shoeprint found on Meyers' side is a classic battle of the experts that does no more than present a credibility choice to the fact-finder. Dr. Hyma, once again, was not the 'state witness" Meyers persists in calling him. Even if that label was accurate, its use is an improper and impermissible attempt to bolster the credibility of the witness. See, Ehrhart, Fla. Evidence, § 702.5 (1996).

For the reasons set out below, Meyers' motion was properly denied.

At the pre-trial hearing on the motion to suppress, Meyers testified that he was arrested on May 28th, 1987, for violation of probation. (SR 72-73). According to Meyers, he was told by law enforcement that they wanted fingernail, hair and blood samples from him in addition to photographs. (SR 74). Meyers testified that he asked for his attorney and the police refused. (SR 74). Then, according to Meyers, the officers hit him in the head and chest, removed his shirt and photographed him. (SR 74). Meyers testified that, in addition to the photographs, hair and fingernail samples were taken, as was his shirt, all against his will and over his protest. (SR 75). Meyers did admit, however, that Officer Taggart (of the Lake Mary Police Department) had interviewed him at his home on May 27, 1987. (SR 77). Meyers did not have a shirt on when that interview took place. (SR 77).

Lake Mary Police Officer Tom Taggart testified that he interviewed Meyers, at his home, on May 27, 1987. (SR 81). That interview took place at Meyers' residence and Meyers told Officer Taggart that he had already told law enforcement everything he knew about Kathy Engles' disappearance. (SR 82). Meyers did not have on a shirt, and scratches and other injuries to his torso were clearly visible. (SR 82). Officer Taggart had received information

that a young girl (who was possibly a runaway) was living in the home, and was invited into Meyers' residence. (SR 82). Meyers claimed that the scratches had been caused by tree branches, but Officer Taggart observed that they were consistent with fingernail scratches rather than scratches caused by tree branches. (SR 83).

Meyers failed to appear in court on May 28, 1987, and Officer Taggart attempted (unsuccessfully) to locate him at his residence. (SR 83). Later that day, Meyers turned himself in at the jail. 84). Officer Taggart contacted Meyers in the Central Booking area of the jail, and told Meyers that he wanted to talk with him about a missing person and that he further wanted to take photographs of Meyers' injuries. (SR 85).40 Officer Taggart did not recall asking Meyers for hair, fingernail or blood samples, but specifically remembered that Meyers never objected to being photographed, never asked for his attorney, and was cooperative throughout photography session and voluntarily followed directions given to him. (SR 86; 88; 98). The photographs show a smug expression on Meyers' face. (SR 87) Officer Taggart testified that, when he went to Meyers' residence, a girl that appeared to be 12 or 13 years old answered the door. (SR 99). Officer Taggart believed that she

 $<sup>^{40}\</sup>text{A}$  large number of people were present at this time. (SR 85).

might be the suspected runaway he had received information about, and had no reason to doubt her authority to admit him into the residence. (SR 100; 102). Officer Taggart told the girl that he wanted to talk with Meyers. (SR 103). Officer Taggart's purpose in going to Meyers' residence was not to search the premises or to make an arrest. (SR 103). Meyers spoke with Officer Taggart in the kitchen of the residence. (SR 104).

At the conclusion of the suppression hearing, and after hearing the arguments of counsel, the court denied Meyers' motion. (SR 119-122). In doing so, the court expressly found Meyers' testimony that he was forced to submit to being photographed to be unbelievable. (SR 120). The court also found that Meyers did not have a shirt on when Officer Taggart observed him the day before the photographs were taken. (SR 122). The trial court's denial of the motion to suppress is correct for three independently adequate and interrelated reasons. Of course, under settled Florida law, the trial court's ruling on the motion is presumptively correct. Bonifay v. State, 626 So. 2d 1310, 1312 (Fla. 1993); Medina v. State, 466 So. 2d 1096 (Fla. 1985).

In his brief, Meyers relies exclusively on Rule 3.220(c) of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure to support his claim that the photographs, and the evidence coming from them, should have been

suppressed. However, Rule 3.220(c) has nothing whatsoever to do with the issue before this court. That rule, by its clear language, only applies to post-charging disclosure to the prosecution of the enumerated matters. Nothing in that rule affects (or even has anything to do with) the ability of law enforcement to photograph an individual with his consent before the filing of a charging document. Meyers consented to being photographed, and that is the end of the matter. There can, by definition, be no violation of Rule 3.220(c) because it does not even apply here. This claim is a non-issue and is certainly not a basis for reversal.

While Meyers has, in the past, disputed the validity of his consent, that issue was resolved against him when the trial court found that his testimony that he did not consent to being photographed was not believable. Such a finding of fact, which came after ore tenus testimony, is the very sort of credibility choice that is the province of the fact-finder. The trial court resolved this issue against Meyers, and there is no basis in law or fact for it to be disturbed by this Court. Even if there was a 'search', that search was conducted with valid consent on the part of Meyers. See, e.g., Washington v. State, 653 so. 2d 362, 364-65 (Fla. 1994); Turner v. State, 645 So. 2d 444, 447 (Fla. 1994); Marquard v. State, 622 So. 2d 54, 56 (Fla. 1994). There is no error, and the motion

to suppress was properly denied.

Even though Meyers' consent is wholly dispositive of this claim, the motion to suppress was also properly denied for the following additional reasons.

First, it is undisputed that Meyers was in lawful custody when the photographs were taken. Obviously, Meyers had no reasonable expectation of privacy while he was incarcerated, and there was no error in photographing pre-existing injuries which were known to law enforcement. That factual scenario is analogous to an inventory search by jail personnel--because Meyers was in full custody, a full search was clearly proper. See, United States v. Robinson, 414 U.S. 218, 84 S.Ct. 467, 38 L.Ed. 2d 427 (1973); See also, Illinois v. Lafayette, 462 U.S. 640, 103 S.Ct. 2605, 77 L.Ed. 2d 65 (1983).

The second reason that the motion to suppress was properly denied is because the injuries were first observed, in plain view, by **a** law enforcement officer who was lawfully in the position to observe them. That officer was lawfully on the premises of Meyers' residence, and there was no error because Meyers had no reasonable expectation of privacy when he came to the door without a shirt on. See, e.g., *United States v. Santana*, 427 U.S. 38, 96 S.Ct. 2406, 49 L.Ed. 2d 300 (1976). Because the injuries were lawfully observed (in plain view) in the first instance, the fact that they were

photographed subsequently is irrelevant. See, e.g., Horton v. California, 496 U.S. 128, 110 S.Ct. 2301, 110 L.Ed. 2d 112 (1990) (inadvertence is not a requirement of the plain view exception); Illinois v. Andreas, 463 U.S. 765, 103 S.Ct. 3319, 77 L.Ed. 2d 1003 (1983) (right of privacy destroyed when evidence is viewed by law enforcement). Meyers destroyed any right of privacy when he exhibited his injuries to Officer Taggart, and the motion to suppress was properly denied.

Finally, even if the photographs should have been suppressed, their admission into evidence was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. See, e.g., Saavedxa v. State, 622 So. 2d 952, 959 (Fla. 1993); State v. DiGuilio, 491 so. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). The evidence of Meyers' injuries was before the jury through the testimony of Fisher (TR 970-73), Taggart (TR 1047-49), Hart (TR 1391), and Hilton (TR 938-30), and there is no reasonable probability that admission of photographs of those injuries (and the expert testimony) contributed to Meyers' conviction. With or without the photographs, Meyers would have been convicted—any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

The primary reason that denial of Meyers' motion to suppress was proper is because Meyers consented to being photographed in the first place. The trial court's finding that valid consent was given

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